

**BYLAWS
OF
True North Classical Academy, Inc.**

**ARTICLE I
General**

1.1 Name. The name of the Corporation shall be True North Classical Academy, Inc. a not-for-profit Florida corporation and shall be hereinafter referred to as the “Corporation.”

1.2. Address. The Corporation shall have its principal place of business located within the boundaries of the County of Miami-Dade, or such other place of business as the Board of Directors may designate from time to time.

1.3. Registered Agent. The Corporation’s agent for service of process shall be Luis Diaz, CPA, 4627 Ponce De Leon Boulevard, Coral Gables, FL 33146 or such other qualified person or entity as the Board of Directors may designate.

**ARTICLE II
Purpose of the Corporation**

2.1. Purpose. The general purposes for which the Corporation is organized are as follows:
a) To provide charitable and educational services through the operation of one or more charter schools within the State of Florida.

b) To act consistent with all applicable statutes, ordinances, rules and regulations affecting the actions of the Corporation and to do all other things otherwise permitted by law.

c) To do such other and further things as are incidental to the foregoing or necessary or desirable in order to accomplish the foregoing.

d) To carry out any business, occupation, undertaking, enterprise, and exercise any power or authority which may be done by a private corporation organized and existing under and by virtue of Chapter 617, Florida Statutes, as may be amended, it being the intention that this corporation may conduct and transact any business lawfully authorized and not prohibited by Chapter 617, Florida Statutes, as may be amended.

e) To engage in any fundraising activities necessary to promulgate the purposes of the Corporation.

2.2 Dedication of Assets. The Corporation’s assets are irrevocably dedicated to its public benefit purposes. No part of the net earnings, properties, or assets of the Corporation, on dissolution or otherwise, shall inure to the benefit of any private person or individual, or to any Director or Officer of the Corporation. Upon dissolution of this Corporation, all properties and assets remaining after payment, or provision for payment, of all debts and liabilities of the Corporation, including disposition of assets pursuant to any applicable charter contract or law applying to charter schools, shall be distributed to a nonprofit fund, foundation, or corporation that is organized exclusively for charitable purposes, pursuant to Section 501(c)(3) of the Internal Revenue Code, or the corresponding provision in any future tax code.

ARTICLE III
Membership

The Corporation shall have no members.

ARTICLE IV
Seal

The seal of this Corporation shall have inscribed on it the name of this Corporation, the year of its organization, and the words “Corporate Seal, State of Florida.”

ARTICLE V
The Board of Directors

5.1. General Powers. Except as provided in the Articles of Incorporation, and as otherwise provided in these Bylaws, the direction and management of the affairs of the Corporation shall be vested in a Board of Directors.

5.2. Number of Directors. The business and affairs of the Corporation shall be managed by a Board of Directors of not less than three (3) nor more than nine (9) members until changed by amendment to these Bylaws.

5.3. Terms of Directors. Each member of the Board of Directors shall have a term of five years, and may be re-elected for up to three (3) consecutive terms. .

5.4 Powers of the Board of Directors. The Board of Directors shall have power:

- a) To call meeting of the Board of Directors.
- b) In anticipation of or during an emergency, if a majority of the Board of Directors cannot readily be assembled because of some catastrophic event, then any number of the Directors shall have the power and authority to do and perform all acts and functions, permitted for an organization described in §627.0303, Florida Statutes, as amended, or subsequent legislation not inconsistent with these Bylaws, the Articles of Incorporation, or the laws of the State of Florida.
- c) To authorize and cause the Corporation to enter into contracts for the day-to-day operations of the Corporation and the discharge of its responsibilities and obligations.
- d) To exercise for the Corporation all powers, duties and authority vested in or delegated to the Corporation.

5.5. Duties of the Board of Directors. It shall be the duty of the Board of Directors:

- a) To cause to be kept a complete record of all its actions and corporate affairs.
- b) To supervise all officers, agents, and employees of the Corporation and to see that their duties are properly performed.

5.6. Vacancies and Elections. If a vacancy should occur in the Board of Directors, a new member of the Board of Directors shall be elected by a majority of a quorum of the remaining members of the Board of Directors. If the vacancy is created due to the resignation or removal of a Director during their term, the new member shall be elected to serve for the remainder of the vacating Director’s three-year term.

5.7 Resignation and Removal. Any Director may resign at any time by giving written notice to the Corporation, the Board of Directors, or its chairperson. The resignation of any Director shall take effect when the notice is delivered unless the notice specifies a later effective date. The Board may also vote for the removal of a Director by a two-thirds majority of the

Directors then in office and present at any regular or special meeting of the Board. Notwithstanding the foregoing, if any Director misses two (2) meetings in fiscal year, such Director may be removed from the Board of Directors by a vote of a majority of a quorum of the Board of Directors present at any meeting of the Board of Directors.

5.8. Compensation. Directors shall not receive salary for their services as Directors. A Director may be reimbursed for authorized expenses if such expenses are approved by the Board.

ARTICLE VI

Meetings of the Board

6.1. Place of Meetings; Attendance. The meetings of the Board of Directors will be held at a location so designated by a majority of the Board. All meetings of the Board of Directors shall be held in accordance with Florida Government in the Sunshine laws.

6.2. Time of Regular Meeting; Notice. The Board of Directors shall determine, at the annual meeting, the dates and times the Board will meet throughout the year. Notice of such meetings shall be distributed to the Board and as otherwise required by law. This notice may be given either personally, or by sending a copy of the notice through the United State Mail, by facsimile or other electronic means. There will be at a minimum two meetings held per year in the county in which the charter school is located.

6.3. Special Meetings or Emergency Meetings. Special or Emergency Meetings of the Board of Directors may be called at any time by the Chairman of the Board or by any two Directors.

6.4. Notice of Special or Emergency Meetings. Written notice of each special meeting, setting forth the time and place of the meeting shall be given to each Director at least ten (10) days before the meeting. This notice may be given either personally, or by sending a copy of the notice through the United State Mail, by facsimile or other electronic means. Notice of emergency meeting shall be given to each Director in a manner and in a time period that is reasonable under the circumstances.

6.5. Voting and Quorum. Except as otherwise provided below, a majority of the Directors in office shall be necessary to constitute a quorum for the transaction of business; provided, however, that whenever a vacancy occurs for any reason in the Board of Directors, a quorum shall consist of a majority of the remaining Directors until the vacancy has been filled. If a quorum is present, the acts of a majority of the Directors in attendance shall be the acts of the Board. Each Director shall have one (1) vote. If a quorum is not present, no business shall be conducted at the meeting. Any less number may: (1) set a time to adjourn, (2) adjourn, (3) recess, or (4) take measures to obtain a quorum. Any Director not present at a meeting may vote on any matter by general or specific proxy or by power of attorney directed to another Director present or by specific instructions in writing; however, such vote shall not be considered for purposes of determining whether there is a quorum.

6.6. Action Without a Meeting. Unless prohibited by Florida law or contractual provision binding the Corporation, any action required or permitted to be taken at a meeting of the Board of Directors or a committee thereof may be taken without a meeting if a consent in writing, stating the action so taken, is signed by a majority of the directors or of the members of the committee, as the case may be. A consent signed under this section shall have the effect of a meeting vote and may be described as such in any document.

6.7. Attendance. Any member of the Board unable to attend a meeting of the Board shall notify the Secretary and state the reason for his or her absence, though a Director may assign by written proxy pursuant to Section 6.5 of this Article another Director to substitute for him or her

at meetings. If a Director is absent from two (2) meetings in a fiscal year, he or she may be removed as set forth in Paragraph 5.8, above.

6.8. Open Meetings. So long as the Corporation's contract for operation of a public charter school remains in effect, to the extent required by such laws, rules and regulations as govern the operation of such public charter school; all meetings of the Board of Directors will be noticed and conducted in accordance with the Sunshine Act (Section 286.011, Florida Statutes).

6.9. Presumption of Assent. A Director who is present at a meeting of the Board when Corporate action is taken is deemed to have assented to the action taken unless (1) the Director objects at the beginning of the meeting, or promptly upon his or her arrival, to holding it or transacting specified business at the meeting or (2) the Director votes against, or abstains from, the action taken. The Secretary or any other officer performing the Secretary's duties shall maintain accurate records of all votes of the Board of Directors.

6.10. Committees of the Board of Directors. The Board of Directors, by resolution adopted by a majority of the full Board, may designate from among its members an executive committee and one or more other committees each of which, to the extent provided in the resolution, shall have and may exercise all the authority of the Board of Directors, except as prohibited by the Florida Statutes, Chapter 617. Each committee shall consist of two (2) or more Directors. The Board of Directors, by resolution adopted in accordance with this article, may designate one or more Directors as alternate members of any committee, who may act in the place and stead of any absent committee member(s) at any meeting of the committee.

6.11. Advisory Committees. Advisory committees not having and exercising the managerial authority of the Board of Directors may be established by resolution duly adopted by the Board. Membership of such committees shall not be limited to the Directors of the Corporation. Members of such committees shall be appointed by a majority vote of the Board. Any member of such committee may be removed by the Board when, in the judgment of the Board, the interests of the Corporation would be served best by such removal.

6.12. Nomination Committee. The Board of Directors shall appoint a nominating committee to recommend candidates to fill any vacancies on the Board of Directors.

6.13. Parent Representative. The Board must appoint a parent representative to facilitate parental involvement and solve disputes. The parent representative must reside in the county in which the charter school is located and may be a member of the Board, charter school employee or individual contracted to represent the Board. If the board oversees more than one (1) school in the school district then a separate parent representative must be appointed for each school.

ARTICLE VII

Officers, Agents and Employees

7.1. Officers. The executive officers of the Corporation shall be elected by the Board of Directors and may consist of a President, Vice-President, Secretary, Treasurer or other officers, assistant officers or agents that the Board of Directors from time to time may deem necessary. Any two or more offices may be held by the same person.

7.2. Other Officers, Employees and Agents. Each and every other officer, employee, and agent of the Corporation shall possess, and may exercise, such power and authority, and shall perform such duties, as may from time to time be assigned to him or her by the Board of Directors, the officer appointing him or her, and such officer or officers who may from time to time be designated by the Board to exercise supervisory authority.

7.3. Election and Term of Office. The Officers of the Corporation shall be elected by the Board of Directors annually at the first meeting of the Board held in each fiscal year. If the election of Officers shall not be held at such meeting, such election shall be the first order of

business at the next regular meeting of the Board. Each Officer shall hold office until his successor shall have been duly elected or until an earlier resignation, death or removal in the manner herein provided.

7.4. Removal. Any officer of the Corporation may be removed with or without cause, at any time, by a majority vote of the Board.

7.5. Resignation. Any officer of the Corporation may resign from his or her respective office or position by delivering notice to the Corporation. The resignation is effective when delivered unless the notice specifies a later effective date. If a resignation is made effective at a later date and the Corporation accepts the future effective date, the Board of Directors may fill the pending vacancy before the effective date if the Board provides that the successor does not take office until the effective date.

7.6. Vacancies. When a vacancy occurs in one of the executive offices by death, resignation or otherwise, it shall be filled by the Board of Directors. The officer so selected shall hold office until his successor is duly elected and qualified, or until an earlier resignation, death or removal in the manner herein provided.

7.7. Compensation. Directors who serve as officers shall not receive any compensation for their services.

7.8. President. The President shall be the Chairman of the Board of Directors, shall be the chief executive officer of the Corporation, and shall have general supervision and control of the business of the Corporation. He/she shall coordinate with the Principal/School Leader in the development of all meeting agendas. He/she shall preside at all meetings of Directors, Committees of the Board of Directors on which he/she may serve, and discharge the duties of a presiding officer. At each annual meeting of the Board of Directors, the President or the President's designee shall report on the business of the Corporation for the preceding fiscal year; and shall perform whatever other duties of the Board of Directors may from time to time prescribe, and as are incident to the offices of President and Chief Executive Officer.

7.9. Vice-President. The Vice-President shall be the Vice-Chairman of the Board of Directors. The Vice-President shall, in the absence or disability or inability of the President, perform the duties and exercise the powers of the President. He/she also shall perform whatever duties and have whatever powers the Board of Directors may from time to time assign him/her. In the event the President refuses to act, the Vice-President may act for him/her at the direction of the Board of Directors.

7.10. Secretary. The Secretary shall keep the minutes of the meetings of the Board of Directors in one or more books provided for that purpose; see that all notices are duly given in accordance with the provisions of these Bylaws or as required by law; and be custodian of the corporate records and of the seal of the Corporation. The Secretary may delegate one or more of these duties to one or more charter school personnel. In addition, the Secretary shall possess, and may exercise, such power and authority, and shall perform such duties, as may from time to time be assigned to him or her by the Board of Directors and as are incident to the office of Secretary.

7.11. Treasurer. The Treasurer shall have custody of corporate funds. He/she shall keep or be responsible for full and accurate accounts of receipts and disbursements, an accurate and full account of all assets and liabilities, and shall deposit all corporate monies and other valuable effects in the name and to the credit of the Corporation in a depository or depositories designated by the Board of Directors. He/she shall disburse the funds of the Corporation and shall render to the President or the Board of Directors, whenever they may require it, an account of his/her transactions as Treasurer and of the financial condition of the Corporation. In addition, the Treasurer shall possess, and may exercise such power and authority, and shall perform such duties,

as may from time to time be assigned to her/him by the Board of Directors and as are incident to the office of Treasurer.

7.12. Designation of Duties. Whenever an officer is absent or whenever, for any reason, the Board of Directors may deem it desirable and as permitted by Florida law, the Board may delegate the powers and duties of an officer to any other officer or officers or to any Director or Directors or agent.

ARTICLE VIII **Books, Records and Reports**

8.1 Books and Records. In compliance with Section 617.1601, Florida Statutes, as amended, or any successor thereto, the Corporation shall keep as permanent records correct and complete books and records of accounts and shall keep minutes of the proceedings of the Board of Directors and committees having any authority of the Board of Directors. All books and records of the Corporation shall be kept in written form or in another form capable of conversion into written form within a reasonable period of time.

8.2 Annual Reports. The Corporation shall file with the Department of State of the State of Florida a sworn annual report on such forms and containing such information as the Department of State may prescribe.

8.3 Inspection Rights. Every Director shall have the right at any reasonable time to inspect the Corporation's books, records, documents of every kind, and physical properties, as permitted by Florida and federal law.

ARTICLE IX **Contracts, Deposits, Checks and Contributions**

9.1 Contracts. Except as otherwise provided in these Bylaws, the Board of Directors may authorize any Officer or agent to enter into any contract or execute and deliver any instrument in the name and on behalf of the Corporation, and such may be general or confined to a specific instance. Unless so authorized by the Board of Directors, no officer, employee, agent or representative shall have the power or authority to bind the Corporation by any contract or engagement, or to pledge its credit, or render it liable pecuniarily for any purpose or to any amount.

9.2 Deposits. All funds of the Corporation shall be deposited from time to time to the credit of the Corporation in such banks, trust companies or other depositories of, invested from time to time for and on behalf of the Corporation, as the Board of Directors may elect.

9.3 Checks, Drafts, Orders of Payment. All checks, drafts, or orders for the payment of money, notes, or other evidences of indebtedness issued in the name of the Corporation shall be signed by such officers or officers, agent or agents of the Corporation and in such manner as the Board of Directors from time to time shall determine by resolution. In the absence of such determination, such instruments shall require the signatures of both the President and the Treasurer of the Corporation.

9.4 Contributions. The Board of Directors may accept on behalf of the Corporation any contribution, gift, bequest, or devise of any property whatsoever, for the purposes of the Corporation.

ARTICLE X
Fiscal Year

The fiscal year of the Corporation shall commence on July 1 of each year and end on June 30 of the following year.

ARTICLE XI
Indemnification

The Corporation shall indemnify and advance expenses on behalf of its Directors and Officers to the fullest extent permitted under Section 617.0831, Florida Statutes, as amended, or any successor thereto. Said indemnification shall extend to any and all liabilities of the Directors and Officers arising from their relationships with the Corporation in any and all capabilities. By resolution duly adopted, the Board of Directors may authorize the Corporation to (i) indemnify any or all of its employees and agents who are not Directors to any extent that the Board of Directors may determine, up to and including the fullest extent permitted under Section 617.0831, Florida Statutes, as amended, or any successor thereto, and/or (ii) provide insurance coverage to any or all of its directors, officers, employees and agents against any or all risks or liabilities that such persons may incur by virtue of their relationship with the Corporation.

ARTICLE XII
Amendments

These Bylaws may be amended from time to time only by a majority vote of a quorum of the Board of Directors, by a written instrument and executed by the Secretary or other duly authorized Officer of the Corporation.

The foregoing Bylaws of True North Classical Academy, Inc., were adopted and approved this 2nd day of July, 2015, by a majority vote of a quorum of the Board of Directors.